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Forward:


We have reached the threshold of a significant and historic milestone in the growth and development of the St. Elijah Church in Aliquippa.  God’s providence (and Good Fortune) have guided and led us to a point where we now observe the 75th anniversary of our humble origin on Hopewell Avenue in 1914.  In tandem with that event we are also celebrating our cherished and venerated Slava-Sveti Ilija.  As we survey our past, we note with no small awe and wonder, the tremendous strides and progress we have made over three quarters of a century.


With a generous “Thank You” to our persevering and industrious pioneers, we inherited a “Blueprint” that gave our parish a firm foundation, a sense of direction, solidarity and a “roadmap” for the years ahead.  They made these continuing sacrifices that today allow us to enjoy the convenience, comfort and beauty of a House of Worship and a Community Center-second to none. In the process, those same veterans clung tenaciously to their Serbian Orthodox religion, drew strength from their church, and maintained their Serbian identity with pride and dignity.


Today as we reflect on our fortunate circumstances, and our many blessings, we recognize that our primary concern is to muster all of our human resources, define their mission, and challenge them to their fullest.  To do less will make meaningless all we have achieved to date.  This indeed will require renewed dedication, total commitment, and strong leadership.  We hope these elements can come together in generous quantities and with equal proportions of wisdom, good judgment and understanding.


To date, we have expended our energies, efforts and finances to create a model physical plant, a thriving and active parish, and a solvent operation.  This indeed was indication that we were moving forward and laterally and growing materially and economically.


But now, the real proof of our success and growth lies in our ability to move onward and upward-to discharge our spiritual and moral responsibilities with even more purpose and intensity.  That is truly our greatest obligation.  Everything else is simple by comparison.  To do that, our predecessors have handed us a sacred trust and a three-fold legacy:



To perpetuate our spiritual heritage.



To preserve our shrines and traditions.



To promote our treasured culture.


And in fulfilling the above we shall have demonstrated our gratitude for the past, appreciation for the present and high hopes for the future!


“For, if indeed we find favor in the eyes of the Lord-we shall surely find favor in the eyes of our fellow man.”


With that as our goal and beacon, we can face the “Nineties” with confidence, courage and renewed spirit.

St. Elijah Church History 1912-1989


In 1909, the first wave of Serbian immigrants in Woodlawn (Aliquippa) bought a parcel of land in the McDonald Heights area.  Although they originally planned to build a church on the plot, they later reconsidered and decided to use the land for a cemetery.


Three years later, the Jones and Laughlin Steel Corporation made an outright grant of three lots on Hopewell Avenue to the Serbian people to assist them in their efforts to erect a church.  From the Woodlawn Presbyterians, the Serbs purchased a frame church, located on Franklin Avenue, and had it moved to the new site.  In 1913, the first church, a weak and unstable structure, was demolished by a violent rainstorm.  The following year the Serb colony built and dedicated a totally new church, selecting St. Elijah as their patron Saint.  The intended sponsor was to be the famous Serb scientist, Dr. Michael Pupin.  Dr. Pupin was unable to attend, and his replacement was Mr. Sam Verlinich, then President of the Serb National Federation.  Red brick siding was added to the exterior of the church in 1926.  Dr. Pupin served as sponsor for the dedication of this addition.


The first priest of the St. Elijah Church was Rev. Nestor Vukicevich, and the first president was Mihailo Stepanovich.  Charter members included Ilija Gvoic, Marko Maravich, Mihailo Stepanovich, Nick Vujnovic and Mitcha Rebich.

Organizations Important Part of History


In the late thirties a junior choir was formed and under the direction of Lela Yojkich Mamula was a vibrant addition to our church llife.  During the war years, when many of our young men were in the armed services, this junior choir sang the responses for the Liturgy many Sundays.  Lela Mamula taught the young people both church music and folk and patriotic music.


In 1932,  the choral group, Frushka Gora, was united with the parent social club Svemir, and from this union emerged the St. Elijah Choir.


Professor Boris Dobrovolsky became choir director in 1937, and led the choir to outstanding success and acclaim.  That same year the choir joined the serb Singing Federation.


The Sveta Petka Circle of Serbian Sisters (K.C.C.) was organized in 1932, and the original group numbered 60 members.  Their noteworthy and generous contributions to the church community set a challenging and inspirational example for subsequent church organizations.


In 1935, the Ambridge K.C.C. Mala Gospojna was organized, and it objectives complemented those of the Sister group in Aliquippa.


In 1936 the church bought a new cemetery site situated along Brodhead Road in Hopewell Township.  The area covered approximately 33 acres.  The initial investment in the property was $10,000.


The St. Elijah Praish observed its 25th (Silver) Anniversary in 1939.  Rev. Strahinja Maletich was pastor at the time, and Peter Bizic served as general chairman.


One of the first priests, Fr. Marijanovich conducted a Serbian School. Sessions were held every Saturday morning in the little schoolhouse located next to our church on Hopewell Avenue.  The youngsters learned to read the epistle in the Church Slavonic chant; to read and write the Cyrillic alphabet and performed in many dramas for church celebrations.  The Junior and Senior Choirs also held their first rehearsals in the school.  A Sokol organization was also formed by the late Pero Medakovich and the instructor was the late Professor Popovich.  The Sokols performed at many tri-state patriotic celebrations.


Between 1945 and 1948, the picnic grounds adjacent to the cemetery were purchased.  The pavilion on the picnic grounds was built in 1948.


In 1946, the church administration had the foresight to buy the 7 lots that today (1988) comprise the site of our present church.  Five more lots were purchased in 1954, at a cost of $12,000.

Very Reverend Vlastimir Tomich


V. Rev. Vlastimir Tomich assumed the St. Elijah Pastorate on March 6, 1949.  With him came a tireless energy and resolve to create a new and bigger church.  A regular Serbian Church School was established in 1950, with Mary Zlatovich as coordinator.  She served in that capacity from 1951 until her passing in July of 1981.  It was another active and strong supporting arm for church projects and activities.


In the early fifties, the Young Men’s Bible Class was organized with Lazo Maravich as its instructor and president.  From this body emerged an active group which later provided personnel for the bazaars, tutors, work committees, and athletic programs centered around the church.


The New Church Building Committee was organized on Dec. 23, 1951, with Samuel Milanovich as the chairman.  Pledges were sought in the amount of $120, and the Circles of Serbian Sisters helped considerably with the campaign and solicitations.  The kick-off for the fund-raising was the St. Sava observance on January 27, 1952.


The new church grounds were consecrated and dedicated on June 1, 1952.  Bishop Dr. Nicolai Velimirovich of the South Canaan Orthodox Seminary assisted by Fr. M. Djurich and Fr. V. Tomich, officiated at the ceremonies.

New St. Elijah to be like Zica

 George Voinovich, Architect; Alexander Dzigurski, Iconographer


Acting on Fr. V. Tomich’s recommendations, the Uprava chose the Serbian Byzantine style of the church of the Zica Diocese for the new structure.  The edifice was to be ninety-five feet long and thirty-nine feet wide.  The plans received the official approval of the former late Rt. Rev. Bishop Dionisije.  In early 1953, George Voinovich of Cleveland was selected as the architect for the new church.

Laying of the Cornerstone with Bishop Dionisije, October 17, 1954

The groundbreaking was held on May 30, 1954.  Cook-Anderson Co. of Beaver, whose bid amounted to $263,538, was chosen as the general contractor.  Construction began on June 7, 1954 and on August 8, the St. Elijah Church observed its 40th Anniversary.  The consecration of the cornerstone was performed on October 17, 1954, with Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas Pesut as the Kumovi.  Alexander Dzigurski, academic painter of New York was retained as the church artist for the Iconostas and the church interior.  The parish residence was completed in 1956.


Sunday, June 3, 1956 was a memorable, sentimental, and nostalgic Sabbath.  The final Holy Liturgy was held in the old church on Hopewell Avenue.  It marked the end of a site, which for 42 years, was the source of spiritual guidance, worship and inspiration, for the Orthodox faithful of Aliquippa.  The new church dedication was held on the next Sunday, June 10, 1956.


That same year the church Uprava (Board) borrowed $110,000 from the Union National Bank of Pittsburgh to help pay for construction costs, with a mortgage set for fifteen years.


On Sunday, August 3, 1958, the Mortgage Burning of the St. Elijah Serbian eastern Orthodox Church was held with traditional vesper services and programs.  Nicholas and Midred Pesut were Kumovi for the third time.  In two short years, a zealous, tireless, and enthusiastic parish had erased a debt of $110,000!

On July 13, 1963, the V. Rev. Stevan Lastavica became the first Serbian Orthodox bishop to be consecrated in America.  He thus became the head of the newly organized Eastern American and Canadian Diocese of the Serbian Orthodox Church.  Upon his death in 1966, the funeral services were conducted in our St. Elijah Church, and interment took place in the St. Elijah Cemetery.

In 1963, the church observed its Golden Anniversary on August 1 and 2, with Bishop Stefan officiating and Dan Koslin serving as general chairman.

A testimonial banquet was held on Sunday, October 20, 1968, honoring V. Rev. Vlastimir Tomich for almost twenty years of continuous spiritual guidance and community leadership of the parish.

Again in 1969, the idea for a cultural center was renewed.  Fr. Tomich and Steve Kavic made strong and urgent appeals for prompt action.  In 1970, Fr. Srboljub Bulich arrived on the scene, and serious general meetings were again convened.  Steven Kavic was then church president and Dewey Vanich was elected chairman of the General Planning Committee.

The groundbreaking for the cultural center was observed with a two-day program on May 29 and 30, 1971.  Kumovi for the groundbreaking were the Ralich Brothers:  George, Dan and Nick.  Steven Kavic was made general chairman of the Building Committee, and upon his passing, was succeeded by Dewey Vanich.  John Tomich was the architect for the building, and Vlastimir Djordjevich retained as engineer.

V. Rev. Father Stevan Stepanov

On July 4, 1872, the center cornerstone was laid.  On Sunday, September 23, 1973, the dedication of the center was held in the new center auditorium. Kumovi for both occasions were the Ralich Brothers.   Father Stevan Stepanov became pastor of St. Elijah in January, 1973, and served during the dedication exercises.  A milestone had been reached in the creative, constructive, and progressive lives of the parish.

Payments of the Center debt were reduced dramatically both in amounts and frequency.  The Bazaar Committee, led by John Musolin, Nick Pesut and Rudy Tatalovich made regular, uninterrupted and substantial deposits.

A junior choir was assembled and held its first practice session in February 1973.

On April 17, 1973, the K.C.C. Choir was organized by Fr. Stepanov.  This group has performed faithfully and commendably for both church services and secular events.  On May 29, 1979 this choir was able to cut a record of Serbian religious and patriotic songs.  This was the first recording of its kind in the Serbian Orthodox Church.

Bells in Memory of  Eli Bulat

Periodically new changes, additions and materials were obtained to improve the physical church and its facilities.  New icons were purchased and altar items were gold-plated and refinished.  New sound systems were added to both the center and the church proper.  New church bells were installed in memory of a great benefactor, the late Eli Bulat.  As a token of his appreciation for parish kindnesses, he bequeathed a sum of well over $10,000 to the St. Elijah Church.

In 1975, Fr. Stepanov, assisted by Randy Obsenica established an extensive audio-visual library with contributions made by the church and its parishioners.  Today, these materials include:  slides of the Divine Liturgy; slides of Serbian monasteries showing internal frescoes and relics; twenty-three volumes of Bible movies and film strips; historical movies and slides covering yearly events of the St. Elijah Parish; film strips and cassettes on church and Bible history; slides of the Holy Land; slides showing Mt. Athos and Hilandar, and slides revealing the concentration camp at Jasenovac.  The approximate value of these education aides exceeds $20,000.

Women and the Right to Vote

Women were first permitted to join the church as voting members in 1976.  Dorothy Reback, as secretary, became the first woman elected to the Executive Board, followed by Patricia Cekoric as financial secretary in 1978.  After Nick Radakovich resigned due to illness in 1979, Mary Poola became the treasurer.  Mildred Kosanovich became the financial secretary in 1980.  The first women to serve as members of the Auditing Board were Kata Crevar, Kata Grkovich, Milica Milanovich and Seja Mabee.  In 1978, an annual Summer Day Camp was established for vacationing church-school children.

His Grace, Bishop Christopher, was consecrated and enthroned as Bishop of Eastern America and Canada in the St. Elijah Church on August 13, 1978.  Bishop Christopher succeeded Bishop Sava, who left for Yugoslavia to become Bishop of the Diocese of Sumadija.

October 4 and 5, 1980, marked the Golden Anniversary of the St. Elijah Church Choir.  For the St. Elijah Choir, this anniversary marked fifty years of unfaltering loyalty, dedication, and devotion to the spiritual and liturgical values and meaning of Serbian Orthodoxy.

As a matter of information, on January 4, 1972, a Mortgage Settlement Document was signed between the Ambridge Savings and Loan Association and the St. Elijah Church in the amount of $715,376.  Nine years later, that contract was fulfilled and the St. Elijah Parish had completed another monumental and remarkable milestone in his history.  The Serbian Center Mortgage Burning of 1981 was really a “glowing” event.

In February 1982 Father Stepanov issued a call for male singers.  Thirty-five members responded and a Male Chorus was organized.  A lively “Sing-Along” program, and “Night in Woodlawn” were both fun-filled and enjoyable events.  The same year, the K.C.C. Sveta Petka observed its 50th and Golden Anniversary.

The painting of the church interior and major roof repairs were completed in 1984.  Additional renovations were added to the parish home in 1985.  Total air conditonal was also installed in the church at this time.

Major external improvements and additions were made to the church grounds in the summer of 1986.  Seventy-seven plants and luxuriant shrubbery now thrive around the church and parish home.  The lawn was reseeded and enriched.  Deteriorated concrete walks were replaced b colorful and lasting Omnistone.  Volunteer work saved the treasury a considerable sum in maintenance and labor cost.

Cemetery Chapel and Vracar in Belgrade

In 1985 a Cemetery Chapel became the next dendeavor of the St. Elijah Parish.  The groundbreaking Ceremony and Banquet were held June 1, 1986.  Work and fund-raising continued unabated.

On November 23, 1986, a memorial banquet netted $10,000 for the St. Sava Church Project at Vracar.  On August 2, 1987, on the occasion of its annual Slava (Sveti Ilija), the Aliquippa Parish was host to the Clergy Choir of Belgrade, Yugoslavia.  A significant sum was again contributed to the Vracar campaign.

Finally, the Blessing of the Cornerstone of this newly erected “Resurrection Chapel” was held on Sunday, October 4, 1987.  The Charter was officially signed by His grace Bishop Christopher of the Eastern American Diocese, Fr. Stevan, Albin Abramovich, church president and Mrs. Ann Radovich Fagan of Broomall, PA, Kuma for the occasion.  The actual contractual value of the chapel reached the tidy sum of $83,000, paid in full.  An additional amount of $8,000 accrued to the chapel value from good will efforts, generous free labor and volunteer work.

An abbreviated and compressed history cannot possibly name and credit all the individuals, past and present, who have strived so diligently and industriously in the best interests of their church.  The progressive chronicle of the St. Elijah Parish is the result of many years of combined efforts of all the church pastors, presidents, boards, organizations, committees and parishioners who “labored in the vineyards” to create a Christ-loving God-oriented community, the St. Elijah Serbian Orthodox Church Parish.  Our sincerest and deepest gratitude is extended to all of them.  We await with high hopes and expectations the challenges of the future.  To our pioneers and past parishioners we offer:  “”Vjecnaja Pamjat” and to the present and future custodians of Serbian Orthodoxy-Good Luck and “Mnogaja Ljeta.”

